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INTRODUCTION

This report details the documentation of a mid-nineteenth-century-era Three-Bay
Threshing, or English, Barn that was located at the Norton-Eaton Farmstead in rural Plainfield,
Will County, Illinois. The farmstead is located on land owned by the Illinois Department of
Natural Resources (IDNR) and currently leased to the Plainfield Township Park District. The
Three-Bay Barn was the oldest extant building on the farmstead and had been poorly maintained
in recent decades. By 2000, the barn was considered a significant enough safety risk to warrant
demolition. The Illinois Historic Preservation Agency (IHPA) determined the barn was not
eligible for inclusion onto the National Register of Historic Places. This determination applied
only to the barn and not to either the farmstead or any other buildings located upon it (Haaker
2000). Even though the IHPA did not regard the barn as National-Register eligible, IDNR
consented to the documentation of the building prior to its demolition, since it represented an
excellent example of an early northern Illinois barn type. The barn is referred to as the Norton
Barn in this report, rather than the Norton-Eaton, since it was Benjamin Norton who built the
structure in circa 1843-1853. The farmstead remained in the hands of the Norton Family until
1928 when Clayton Eaton acquired the property (Lambert 2000). The only other building on the
farmstead that dates from the nineteenth century is a small stone smokehouse.

The purpose of this project is to document the physical structure of the Norton Barn,
provide a site history, and place the building in its proper historical context. The field
investigation was conducted in November 2000. Documentary research on the property was
done more recently and was carried out primarily at the Illinois State Archives and Illinois State
Library. Information on the various barn types in Will County was obtained from two sources:
the 1873 Combination Atlas Map of Will County, Illinois (Thompson Brothers and Burr 1873),
which has detailed lithographs of farmsteads in the county, as they appeared in the middle-to-late
nineteenth century; and the Rural Historic Structural Survey of Wheatland, Plainfield, and
Lockport Townships, which provides contemporary survey data on the surviving barns in the
vicinity of the Norton-Eaton Farm (Wiss et al. 2000). Another source utilized during the project
was the Preliminary Assessment of the Buildings and Site at the Norton-Eaton Farm, Plainfield,
Illinois (Lambert 2000). The latter report provides documentary and oral history concerning the
Norton and Eaton families, as well as description of the other buildings at the site.
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Figure 1. United States Geological Survey (USGS) topographic map showing the location
of the Norton-Eaton Farmstead. The water-covered lands lying east of the Du Page River
have been surface mined for sand and gravel (USGS Normantown, IL Quadrangle 1993).

NORTON-EATON
FARMSTEAD
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GEOGRAPHICAL AND HISTORICAL SETTING

The Norton-Eaton Farmstead is located on the NW1/4, NE1/4, Section 3 of Plainfield
Township, in western Will County, Illinois. The farmstead lies on the south side of 135th Street,
one-half mile east of Illinois Route 159, and occupies a low ridge on the west bank of the Du
Page River. Due to the growth of Plainfield in recent years, the farmstead now lies on the
northern fringe of that village, whereas during the nineteenth century the farm and town were
separated by several miles of open country.

Will County is located in northeastern Illinois and is one of the so-called “collar
counties” that rings Cook County. Although this title is a modern one, coming into usage with
the growth of suburbia radiating out from Chicago, Will County has been intimately connected
with Chicago, in respect to trade and transportation, since the earliest period of Euro-American
settlement. The Des Plaines River, which flows through the northern and western portions of the
county, was a key component to the network of waterways connecting the Great Lakes region
with the Illinois River Valley and the Mississippi River beyond. Established by Native
Americans, this route later was utilized by the French after they penetrated the Illinois County
during the late seventeenth century.

Although frequently traversed by Europeans in previous years, Will County did not begin
to be actively settled by whites until the late 1820s. James Walker has the distinction of being
the first permanent settler in Plainfield Township, as well as in what is now Will County. A
native of North Carolina, Walker established a claim along the banks of the Du Page River in
Plainfield Township in 1828. He subsequently erected a saw mill on the Du Page, roughly one-
mile south of the future site of the town of Plainfield, and this mill supplied the first sawn lumber
in the area. The large stand of timber surrounding the mill site thereafter was referred to as
“Walker’s Grove” –a name that also was applied to the surrounding settlement for a number of
years. By the end of 1830 several other American families had settled in the area, including
those of Reuben Flagg, Timothy B. Clark, and Thomas Covel (Le Baron 1878:478, 481).
Settlement in the region was relatively slow until Indian claims in northern Illinois were
extinguished through a treaty signed at Chicago in 1833, in the aftermath of the Black Hawk
War. During the war, the Walker’s Grove settlers had erected a crude stockade for their
protection. Named Fort Beggs, this fortification consisted of a line of stakes surrounding the
cabin of Reverend S. R. Beggs (Le Baron 1878:480).1

The majority of settlers who eventually came to Will County were Northerners hailing
from New England and the Mid-Atlantic states, though Southerners and immigrant elements
were represented as well. Wheatland Township, which bordered Plainfield on the north, was
considered to be one of the most diverse rural areas in respect to population, and it had a number
of very distinct regional and ethnic-based settlements within its borders. A group of Scottish
families, for instance, established homesteads in the southwest corner of the township, and this
locality became known as the “Scotch Settlement.” Similarly, the northwestern part of the
township primarily was settled by Vermonters and was referred to as the “Vermont Settlement.”
More numerous still were the Pennsylvania Dutch, who by 1878 represented nearly half of the

1 Archaeological investigations have recently been conducted at this site (Bird and Porubcan 2001).
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families in Wheatland Township. The remaining population in Wheatland in 1878 was
composed of forty American, forty Scotch, twenty-four English, and two or three Irish and
French families (Le Baron 1878:537).

In 1831 the Cook County Commissioners arranged for the laying out of road between
Chicago and Ottawa, at the mouth of the Fox River. This road passed through Plainfield
Township and followed an established Potawatomi route that was known as the “High Prairie
Trail.” This trail ran westward from Chicago, crossed the Des Plaines River at the present site of
Riverside and then proceeded southwest towards Walker’s Grove, where it forded the Du Page
River. Much of the road’s route between Riverside and Plainfield followed what would later
become State Route 126 and later Interstate 55. In 1834 the road began to be used by the
Chicago-Ottawa stage (Quaife 1968:76-77). That same year (1834), the town of Plainfield was
laid out on Sections 10 and 15 of Plainfield Township, a short distance east of the point where
the Chicago-Ottawa Road crossed the Du Page River (Le Baron 1878:487). Even though
Plainfield was destined to go without a railroad for many years, the town was serviced by a
number of good roads fairly early in its history. Besides the Chicago-Ottawa Road, Plainfield
had two plank roads by 1851. One of the plank roads ran due east to Lockport, while the other
ran southeast to Joliet (Rees 1851). Joliet and Lockport were located along the Des Plaines
River, but more importantly, they were positioned astride the Illinois and Michigan (I&M)
Canal. The I&M Canal provided a continuous waterway between the Illinois River and Lake
Michigan and was finally opened to commercial traffic in 1848, after twelve years of
construction. Though soon rivaled by railroads, the canal nonetheless played a major role in
Chicago’s subsequent growth and fostered the development of smaller urban centers along its
route (Stratton and Mansberger 2001:6-7).

Joilet, which was the county seat, developed into an important manufacturing and
commercial center. One of its principal businesses was the Joliet Steel Works. Joliet also was
the site of the Illinois State Penitentiary, which provided considerable (albeit less savory)
business for the city, and had an extensive building stone industry. Stone quarries were located
all along the Des Plaines River Valley in Will County, with Lemont and Lockport being two
other centers for the trade. The county’s stone industry received a major boost following the
Chicago Fire of 1871, when large quantities of stone were shipped in to the ravaged city. A
number of stone quarries were opened around Plainfield and were considered to provide building
stone of a good quality. Lacking the direct rail and canal connections available to the quarries
along the Des Plaines, however, the Plainfield quarries were exploited only for local building
projects (Le Baron 1878:493). The gravel and sand resources around Plainfield also were
exploited for construction purposes. One of the finest sand pits in the area was located on the
Norton Farmstead, on Section 3 (Le Baron 1878:994; Historical Directory Publishing Company
1884:379). During the twentieth century, a large swath of land lying east of Plainfiield was strip
mined to extract sand and gravel.

Another prominent industry in the county during the late nineteenth century was coal
mining. Large-scale shaft mining was initiated in 1870s and centered in the southwestern part of
the county, around the towns of Braidwood and Braceville. Both of these communities were
located along the Chicago and Alton Railroad.
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Agriculture, however, was by far the largest and most important industry in Will County
during the nineteenth century. Like elsewhere in Illinois, the early agricultural economy in the
county was focused on wheat production, since wheat represented a valuable and easily
marketable cash crop. Corn also was grown in abundance; indeed, with a higher yield per acre,
corn production typically surpassed that of wheat on any given farm. However, corn was less
valuable and bulkier to transport than wheat. Hence, it primarily was used as feed for livestock,
particularly for fattening hogs. By the 1850s, however, wheat yields in Illinois had begun to
drop due to diminished soil fertility and increased exposure of the crop to blights and insect
infestations. The winter wheat crop was especially poor between 1847 and 1852 (Bogue
1994:124-125). Will County farmers reacted to the diminishing yields by shifting their emphasis
from wheat to dairying and stock raising, which meant an increase in the number of livestock
and a corresponding expansion in hay, corn, and oat production and acreage devoted to
pasturage. This shift, while gradual, was in full swing by the 1870s. The decline of wheat
cultivation in Will County is well illustrated by agricultural figures for 1878. Only 1,797 acres
had been devoted to wheat production that year, 1,684.5 acres of which was spring wheat and
112.5 acres was winter wheat. These figures were smaller than the total number of acres devoted
to Irish potatoes in the county, which was 2,650.35 acres. In contrast, 132,332 acres of land in
the county had been planted with corn. Oats, with 60,796 acres, was the second most prevalent
crop. Corn and oats, of course, were feed grains for livestock (Le Baron 1878:346-7). The grain
production on the Norton Farm between 1850 and 1870 generally reflects these countywide
trends.

The following figures characterize the dairy industry in Will County in 1878: 17,366
milch cows, 787,012 pounds of butter sold, 57,860 pounds of cheese sold, 10,060 gallons of
cream sold, and 1,322,646 gallons of milk sold (Le Baron 1878:349). One year later, Will
County farmers sold 2,116,036 gallons of milk to butter and cheese factories. In addition,
1,571,251 pounds of butter and 8,390 pounds of cheese had been made for consumption on the
farm. The acreage devoted to hay production was 82,732, on which some 115,513 tons of hay
had been cut. The increase in the number of livestock in Will County between 1850 and 1880
was equally remarkable: the number of milch cows had increased from 5,868 to 25,686; other
(i.e. beef) cattle from 9,628 to 33,718; and swine from 8,650 to 51,539. In contrast, the number
of sheep in the county had decreased during the same period, dropping from 21,703 in 1850 to
8,598 in 1880. There had been 9,352 head of cattle and 37,500 swine sold for meat in 1879-1880
(Historical Directory Publishing Company 1884:243-5).

Will County’s dairy and meat products found a ready market in the burgeoning city of
Chicago and other urban centers, and the shipment of these goods was facilitated by the
extensive network of railroads radiating out from Chicago. By 1878, Will County was crossed
by four rail lines. One of these lines, the Chicago and Alton Railroad, passed through Reed
Township, in the southwest corner of the county. The soils in Reed were sandy and considered
poor for row crops. Yet, these same lands were well suited for grazing and dairying. In 1877 a
creamery and cheese factory were established in the coal town of Braidwood. One year later,
this factory was producing 150 pounds of butter and 900 pounds of cheese each day. These
products were shipped on the Chicago and Alton Railroad, the cheese going to Chicago and the
butter to St. Louis (Le Baron 1878:477).
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Farmers in Du Page Township, located in the northeast corner of the county, were
especially involved in dairying. The 1878 county observed that, “The quantity of milk produced
is, perhaps, greater than in any other township of the county.” Some of the local milk was
consumed at the two cheese factories then operating in the township, but a great deal of it also
was shipped into Chicago by rail out of Romeo Station (now Romeoville), which was noted as
“one of the best milk stations along the Chicago and Alton Railroad.” The two cheese factories
in the township had been established in 1870 and 1877 (Le Baron 1878:535). Other cheese
factories were constructed around the county during this period as well. In the spring of 1877,
for instance, Clark and Company erected a frame cheese factory on the outskirts of Plainfield.
This factory had the capacity to consume 20,000 pounds of milk per day and turned out an
average of sixty cheeses each week, each weighing 52 pounds. Cheese was the principal product
at the factory, though a small quantity of butter was produced as well (Le Baron 1878:486-7).
By 1880, the business had been renamed the Clark and Simmons Creamery and Cheese Factory.
Between June 1, 1879 and May 31, 1880 it consumed 976,496 pounds of milk collected from
200 cows (U. S. Bureau of the Census 1880c:30).

A large commercial stock farm, named Caton Farm, was located three miles southwest of
Plainfield. This farm was situated adjacent to the Elgin, Joliet, and Eastern Railroad and
supplied beef cattle to the Chicago market (Ogle 1893). Judge John D. Caton (1812-1895) was
the original owner of the farm. He came to Will County from New York in 1833 and
subsequently served on the Illinois Supreme Court between 1842 and 1864. The last seven years
Caton was with the court, he served as Chief Justice (Dunne 1933:27).


